IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 22-0101

Floyd County Iowa District Court Case No. LACV031539

ESTATE OF ROBERTA ANN BUTTERFIELD by Bradley Dean Butterfield
and Deanne Marie Rogers, Co-Administrators,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CHAUTAUQUA GUEST HOME, INC., d/b/a CHAUTAUQUA GUEST
HOME #3 and CHAUTAUQUA GUEST HOMES,

Defendants-Appellees.

Appeal from an order of the Iowa District Court for Floyd County,
The Honorable Colleen Weiland, Presiding District Court Judge

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jeffrey A. Pitman
AT0010738
Pitman, Kalkhoff, Sicula &
Dentice, S.C.
1110 N. Dr. Martin Luther King
Jr. Dr., Ste. 320
Milwaukee, WI 53203
Telephone: (414) 333-3333
Facsimile: (414) 212-0004

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the District Court Erred In Finding that Expert Testimony Is Required To Prove A *Prima Facie* Case of Negligence Against Defendants.

- II. Whether the District Court Erred When It Found That The Parties Could Not Enter Into An Agreement That Concluded A Certificate Of Merit Affidavit Was Not Needed.
- III. Whether the District Court Erred When It Failed to Consider That Chautauqua Waived The Requirement That A Certificate Of Merit Must Be Filed.
- IV. Whether the District Court Erred When It Found That Plaintiff Did Not Substantially Comply with § 147.140.
- V. Whether the District Court Erred When It Failed To Consider That Chautauqua Should Be Estopped From Dismissal.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court under Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). The Iowa Court of Appeals has ruled on four cases involving Iowa Code § 147.140. However, this case presents substantial issues of first impression that those decisions have not addressed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of the district court's September 2, 2021 Order granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss for Plaintiff's Failure to Comply with Iowa Code § 147.140 (Appx., p. 141, 144) and the district court's December 14, 2021 Order denying Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, Amend, & Enlarge under Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.902(2). [Appx., p. 443, 510]. On April 20, 2020, The Estate of Roberta Ann Butterfield (hereinafter "Butterfield" or "Plaintiff")

brought personal injury/wrongful death and loss of consortium claims against Defendants-Appellees Chautauqua Guest Home Inc. d/b/a Chautauqua Guest Home #3 and Chautauqua Guest Homes (“Chautauqua” or “Facility”) for the injuries and death of Roberta Ann Butterfield while she was a resident at Chautauqua, a skilled nursing facility. [Appx., p. 9, 22-23]. On May 21, 2020, Chautauqua filed their Answer. [Appx., p. 25-30].

Extensive discovery was engaged in between both parties, including a June 15, 2020 agreed upon Discovery Plan as well as the exchange of expert disclosures and expert reports. [Appx., p. 247-48]. Fifteen days after Chautauqua filed their Notice of Serving Expert Reports, on July 16, 2021, they filed their Motion to Dismiss under Iowa Code § 147.140. [Appx., p. 141, 144]. Butterfield filed her Resistance on July 28, 2021, and Chautauqua filed their Reply Brief on August 2, 2021. [Appx., p. 232] [Appx., p. 425]. The district court heard unreported oral argument on August 31, 2021 and granted Chautauqua’s Motion to Dismiss in its written Order on September 2, 2021 citing to Iowa Code § 147.140. [Appx., p. 443]. On September 15, 2021, Butterfield filed a timely Motion to Reconsider, Amend, & Enlarge under Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.904(2), which Chautauqua resisted on September 21, 2021. [Appx., p. 447] [Appx., p. 497]. Butterfield filed her Response to Chautauqua’s Resistance on September 27, 2021. [Appx., p. 505]. Ultimately, the district

court denied Butterfield's Motion to Reconsider in its December 14, 2021 written Ruling. [Appx., p. 510]. Butterfield filed her Notice of Appeal on January 12, 2022. [Appx., p. 512, 515].

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Roberta Ann Butterfield was a resident of Chautauqua skilled nursing facility from October 26, 2017 to May 18, 2019. [Appx., p. 10]. On or about May 19, 2018, Chautauqua staff attempted to transfer Butterfield out of the bathroom and into her wheelchair and heard a "pop" mid-transfer, causing Butterfield to immediately complain of left leg pain. [Appx., p. 13]. Subsequent to the "popping" of Butterfield's left leg, Chautauqua staff did nothing and did not have Butterfield transferred to a hospital until six days later on May 25, 2018. [Appx., p. 13-14]. At the hospital, Butterfield was diagnosed with a subtrochanteric intertrochanteric left hip fracture and required surgical intervention on May 27, 2018. [Appx., p. 14].

On June 1, 2018, Butterfield was readmitted to Chautauqua. [Appx., p. 14]. Upon readmission, Butterfield did not have any pressure injuries or skin problems. [Appx., p. 14]. She spent a significant time in bed, and Chautauqua did nothing to prevent skin breakdown. [Appx., p. 14]. By January 10, 2019, Butterfield developed a fluid filled blister on her left buttocks area that was 0.8 cm by 1.0 cm. [Appx., p. 15]. From January 10, 2019 to February 28, 2019,

Chautauqua continued to do nothing regarding Butterfield's skin breakdown, which ultimately resulted in the injury becoming infected with a strong foul odor and growing in size to 2.8 cm by 3.0 cm by 1.8 cm. [Appx., p. 15-16]. Chautauqua continued to do nothing, and, by April 3, 2019, the pressure injury developed to a stage 4 with bone visualization and measured at 7.5 cm by 2.0 cm by 4.0 cm, requiring surgical intervention. [Appx., p. 16-17]. Butterfield ultimately died on May 18, 2019 as a result of Chautauqua's acts and omissions. [Appx., p. 17].

Plaintiff, The Estate of Roberta Ann Butterfield, filed her Petition on April 20, 2020. [Appx., p. 8]. Chautauqua answered on May 21, 2020. [Appx., p. 25]. On June 15, 2020, Butterfield and Chautauqua entered into an agreed upon Trial Scheduling and Discovery Plan, which the district court approved on June 16, 2020. [Appx., p. 31] [Order Setting Trial]. Chautauqua submitted their Initial Disclosures on July 9, 2020, and Butterfield filed her Initial Disclosures on July 15, 2020. [Appx., p. 37, 43, 247]. Butterfield served Interrogatories and Requests for Production on Chautauqua on November 5, 2020. [Pl. Notice of Service Pl. Request for Production and Interrogatories]. Chautauqua responded to Butterfield's First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production on February 5, 2021 and then supplemented their responses on June 7, 2021. [Appx., p. 247, 296, 416] [Notice of Discovery Response].

Butterfield filed her Designation of Expert Witnesses on March 16, 2021 and Disclosure of Expert Testimony on April 19, 2021. [Appx., p. 46, 70]. Chautauqua submitted their first set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production on April 22, 2021. [Appx., p. 139, 402]. On June 4, 2021, the parties entered into a confidentiality agreement and protective order for the production of documents to be produced in discovery, and Chautauqua filed their expert witness designation. [Appx., p. 406, 415]. On July 1, 2021, Chautauqua served their expert reports. [Appx., p. 417]. On July 16, 2021, Chautauqua then filed their Motion to Dismiss [Appx., p. 141, 144], which is the subject of this appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Erred In Finding that Expert Testimony Is Required To Prove A *Prima Facie* Case of Negligence Against Defendants.

Butterfield preserved this issue for appellate review in Plaintiff's Resistance to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss [Appx., p. 236-242] and then in Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider, Amend & Enlarge [Appx., p. 449-452]. The district court concluded that "this is not a *res ipsa loquitor* case" and ruled as follows:

"[t]o the extent that a breach might be evident to laypersons without expert testimony, causation is not. And the certificate of merit affidavit is required whenever expert testimony 'is necessary to establish a prima facie case,' not just the duty of care and breach elements."

[Appx., p. 445].

The Iowa Court of Appeals reviews dismissals for correction of legal error. *McHugh v. Smith*, 966 N.W.2d 285, 287 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021) (*citing Benskin, Inc. v. W. Bank*, 952 N.W.2d 292, 298 (Iowa 2020)); *see also* Iowa Ct. R. App. P. 6.907. "In doing so, [the court] accept[s] as true the factual allegations set forth in the petition but not its legal conclusions. A motion to dismiss is granted only when there are no conceivable state of facts under which the nonmoving party would be entitled to relief." *Struck v. Mercy Health Servs.*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922 at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 3, 2021). The Iowa

Court of Appeals also reviews questions of statutory interpretation for correction of legal error. *McHugh*, 966 N.W.2d at 287 (citing to *Doe v. State*, 943 N.W.2d 608, 609 (Iowa 2020)).

i. The District Court Erred in Not Considering the *Struck* case.

The district court issued its written order denying Butterfield’s Motion to Reconsider on December 14, 2021. [Appx., p. 510-511]. But, prior to that order, on November 3, 2021, the Iowa Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision in *Struck v. Mercy Health Servs.*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 3, 2021) that the district court did not consider. *Struck* specifically analyzed one of the very issues here, whether expert testimony is required for all claims. Iowa Code section 147.140 states, in part:

In any action for personal injury or wrongful death against a health care provider based upon the alleged negligence in the practice of that profession or occupation or in patient care, which includes a cause of action **for which expert testimony is necessary** to establish a prima facie case, the plaintiff shall, prior to the commencement of discovery in the case and within sixty days of the defendant’s answer, serve upon the defendant a certificate of merit affidavit signed by an expert witness with respect to the issue of standard of care and an alleged breach of the standard of care.

Iowa Code § 147.140 (1)(a). (emphasis added). This Court in *Struck* clarified the rule as it pertains to cases such as this: “[t]he standard of care is different,

however, when a negligence claim is based on . . . nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care. The applicable standard . . . is such **reasonable care as the patient’s known condition may require. Expert testimony is unnecessary in these situations.**” *Struck*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922, at *7. (emphasis added). In *Struck*, this Court reviewed the petition and determined that the claims involving general negligence (i.e. premises liability and lack of supervision by *non-professional* staff) did not require expert testimony and should not have been dismissed under § 147.140. *Struck*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922 at *8.

Butterfield alleges two incidents in her Petition: (1) on May 19, 2018, Chautauqua staff transferred Butterfield and heard a pop from her left leg, which Butterfield then immediately complained of left leg pain [Appx., p. 13]; and (2) that Butterfield developed a pressure injury that significantly grew in size from January 10, 2019 to April 3, 2019 to the point of bone visualization, infection, and a foul odor. [Appx., p. 15-17]. Butterfield further alleges in her Petition that “as a direct result” of these incidents and Chautauqua’s choices and lack of action, Butterfield sustained a left hip fracture, required extensive treatment and required surgical interventions. [Appx., p. 13-14, 17]. Butterfield need not identify a specific legal claim in her Petition.

To that end, Iowa “caselaw has long held that a petition is not required to identify a specific legal theory.” *Struck*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922 at *8. (citations omitted). This Court in *Struck* determined that a petition “must be liberally construed in order to effectuate justice” when reviewing a petition, and further concluded that “the pleader will be accorded the advantage of every reasonable intendment, even to implications necessarily inferred.” *Id.* (internal citations and quotations omitted). Moreover, “[i]f the prima facie elements of the claim are stated, and this statement is fair notice to a defendant, the petition is sufficient.” *Id.* (internal citations and quotations omitted).

In fact, like in *Struck*, “[a]lthough many allegations in [Butterfield’s] petition are couched in terms of professional duties and the breach of those duties, the well-pled facts reflect the incident[s] that give[] rise to her claim for relief.” *Struck*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922 at 9. Butterfield’s Petition explains that the injuries arose from an attempt to transfer as well as a pressure injury post-fracture. [Appx., p. 13, 15]. It further explains that there was a popping noise during the transfer and also explains that post-fracture, Butterfield was a high risk for developing pressure injuries and was primarily bedbound but did not have any pressure injuries immediately upon her readmission to the Facility post-fracture. [Appx., p. 13-14]. Thus, there was fair notice of Butterfield’s claims against Chautauqua, which also constituted a

plain statement that Butterfield was entitled to relief. The district court erred in its failure to analyze and conclude that Butterfield's Petition provides fair notice of claims and constitute plain statements that she is entitled to relief. *See Struck*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922 at 9-10.

The district court then erred in not taking the analysis a step further when it failed to address whether any claims involved ordinary negligence. As this Court in *Struck* recognized, there are Iowa appellate decisions that provide examples of fact scenarios to determine whether expert testimony is required, none of which the district court considered in its decision. Particularly, Butterfield cited to *Cockerton v. Mercy Hospital Medical Center*, 490 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992) and *Davis v. Montgomery County Mem'l Hosp.*, No. 05-0865, 2006 Iowa App. LEXIS 762 (Iowa Ct. App. July 12, 2006), among others, in her Resistance. [Appx., p. 239-240]. *Cockerton*, concluded that “[t]he conduct in question is simply the way the x-ray technician handled [plaintiff] during the x-ray examination . . . this was not the kind of case requiring expert testimony . . . Rather, the case involves a situation where the hospital was required to exercise ordinary care. . . .”; 490 N.W. 2d 856, 859 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)). In *Davis v. Montgomery County Mem'l Hosp.*, the Court determined that assisting a patient in ambulation without the use of a gait belt does not require expert testimony because the issue is “whether the assistance given was

adequate” and is non-medical, routine care. No. 05-0865, 2006 Iowa App. LEXIS 762, ¶¶ 14-15 (Iowa Ct. App. July 12, 2006).

Here, the district court erred by concentrating on the incorrect allegations in Butterfield’s Petition, ultimately prejudging whether Butterfield had any remaining negligence claims that did not require expert testimony rather than “effectuat[ing] justice and giv[ing] [Butterfield] the advantage of all reasonable intendments.” *See Struck*, No. 20-1228, 2021 WL 5105922 at 11. For that reason, this Court should determine that the Motion to Dismiss was improperly granted and reverse and remand.

ii. Expert Testimony Is Not Required Because Chautauqua’s Conduct Is So Obvious That It Is Within The Comprehension Of The Average Person And Chautauqua Provided Routine, Custodial, Nonmedical, And Ministerial Care That Requires Only Common Knowledge And Experience To Understand. Thus, § 147.140 Does Not Apply.

The Iowa Supreme Court framed the test for determining whether an expert is necessary in *Thompson v. Embassy Rehabilitation and Care Center*, 604 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 2000), stating that expert testimony is not required if all primary facts can be described to the jury accurately, and the jury is then as capable of comprehending those primary facts and drawing correct conclusions from the facts as a witness with special training and experience. *Thompson*, 604 N.W.2d at 646 (internal citations omitted). Additionally, expert testimony “is

not necessarily required merely because a case involves matters of science, special skill, special learning, knowledge, or experience which may be difficult for jurors to comprehend.” *Schlader v. Interstate Power Co.*, 591 N.W.2d 10, 14 (Iowa 1999). “Causes of action which predicate recovery upon expert testimony are rare.” *Id.* (internal citations omitted). “Accordingly, no expert testimony is required when the lack of care is so obvious that it is within the comprehension of the average person . . . or when the complained of actions involve nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care by the hospital. . . .” *Johnson v. Genesis Med. Ctr. (In re Estate of Llewellyn)*, No. 03-1506, 2004 Iowa App. LEXIS, ¶¶ 11-12 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 15, 2004) (internal citations omitted). Experts are unnecessary in cases that involve administrative, ministerial, nonmedical, routine care. *Kastler v. Iowa Methodist Hosp.*, 193 N.W.2d 98, 101-02 (Iowa 1971). “The character of a particular activity of a hospital – whether professional on the one hand, or nonmedical, administrative, ministerial or routine care, on the other is determined by the nature of the activity itself, not by its purpose.” *Id.* at 102. “[I]f the conduct involves nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care, then the applicable rule is such reasonable care as the patient’s known [mental and physical] condition may require. *Id.* at 101. Further, “[i]t is the obviousness of the physician’s lack of care that triggers the exception, not the obviousness of the resulted injury.”

Lary v. Han, 2012 Iowa App. LEXIS 568, ¶ 11, 821 N.W.2d 286 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012). “A bad result, standing alone, is not adequate to create a jury question; Instead, something more is required, be it the common knowledge that the injury does not ordinarily occur without negligence or expert testimony to that effect.” *Id.* (internal citations and quotations omitted).

The district court erred in determining that § 147.140 applies by finding that this case is not a *res ipsa loquitur* case and determining that expert testimony is required. [Appx., p. 445]. Butterfield specifically requested in her Resistance that the district court consider several Iowa cases that have concluded expert testimony is not required, which the district court failed to do. [Appx., p. 237-242]. Butterfield’s claims should have been considered in the light most favorable to her and all ambiguities and doubts should have been resolved in her favor as well. *See Stessman v. American Black Hawk Broadcasting Co.*, 416 N.W.2d 685, 686 (Iowa 1987). Instead, the district court ignored the possibility of ordinary negligence claims due to the obviousness of Chautauqua’s acts/omissions and failed to consider the non-medical, routine care provided by Chautauqua.

Specifically, the Iowa Supreme Court has determined that conduct by a defendant was so obvious as to be within the comprehension of laypersons in numerous cases. *See Wiles v. Myerly*, 210 N.W.2d 619 (Iowa 1973)

(“Knowledge and experience teaches us that in the ordinary course of events one undergoing surgery does not sustain an unusual injury to a healthy part of his body not within the area of the operation in the absence of negligence.”); *Frost v. Des Moines Still College*, 248 Iowa 294, 79 N.W.2d 306 (1957) (“It is a simple understandable rule of circumstantial evidence with a sound background of common sense and human experience, and difficulty comes only when we attempt to transform it into a rigid legal formula, which arbitrarily precludes its application in many cases where it is most important that it be applied. This is such a case.”); *Stickleman v. Synhorst*, 243 Iowa 872, 52 N.W.2d 504 (1952) (“We are aware of no rule that the nature of an injury must be shown by medical testimony if the injury is such that it may satisfactorily be shown by other evidence. We think the nature of plaintiff’s injury is sufficiently shown here.”); *Whetstine v. Moravec*, 228 Iowa 352, 291 N.W. 425 (1940) (“It is common knowledge that in extracting a tooth or its roots, neither ordinarily passes into the trachea and thus into the lungs. In fact such an occurrence is most rare. In the words of the authorities it is a matter of such rare occurrence and unusual character, that its very happening carries with it a strong inherent probability of negligence.”); *Welte v. Bello*, 482 N.W.2d 437, 441 (Iowa 1992) (“We believe it is within the common experience of laypersons that such an occurrence in the ordinary course of things would not have happened if

reasonable care had been used. The insertion of a needle into a vein is a common medical procedure that laypersons understand. It is a procedure that has become so common that laypersons know certain occurrences would not take place if ordinary care is used.”).

The district court erred in disregarding Butterfield’s claims regarding the obviousness of Chautauqua’s conduct when only indicating this case is not a *res ipsa loquitur* case. [*See Appx.*, p. 445].

Res ipsa loquitur is Latin for the thing speaks for itself. It is a type of circumstantial evidence which allows the jury to infer the cause of the injury from the naked fact of injury, and then to superadd the further inference that this inferred cause proceeded from negligence.

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