IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
FLOYD COUNTY CASE NO. LACV031539

NO. 22-0101

**ESTATE OF ROBERTA ANN BUTTERFIELD by Bradley
Dean Butterfield and Deanne Marie Rogers, Co-
Administrators,**
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

**CHAUTAUQUA GUEST HOME, INC., d/b/a CHAUTAUQUA
GUEST HOME #3 and CHAUTAUQUA GUEST HOMES,**
Defendants-Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR FLOYD
COUNTY
THE HONORABLE COLLEEN WEILAND

APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL
ARGUMENT

JOSEPH D. THORNTON, ##AT0007980
Smith Peterson Law Firm, LLP
133 West Broadway P.O. Box 249
Council Bluffs, IA 51502
Telephone: (712) 328-1833
Facsimile: (712) 328-8320
Email: jdthornton@smithpeterson.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES

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

Likewise, in this case, no such issues are present here. In her Petition, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants' failure to provide adequate treatment caused Roberta Butterfield to develop ischial pressure injuries and/or infections to her buttocks,

which directly resulted in her death on May 19, 2018. (Petition, ¶ 45; App. 17).

Plaintiff's claims are clearly medical negligence claims in support of her wrongful death action and require competent expert testimony. Expert testimony is required to establish causation in a medical malpractice action for wrongful death where proof of causation requires a certain degree of expertise.

Like the Plaintiff in Struck, what Plaintiff wants to do is parcel out her allegations of ordinary negligence and separate it from the wrongful death claim. She wants to turn this into a personal injury claim only, despite the claims asserted and the allegations in her petition. If the Plaintiff really had ordinary negligence claims that don't require expert testimony, she should have alleged them in her petition or moved for leave to amend to add them, neither of which she did. See Struck v. Mercy Health Servs., Iowa Corp., No. 20-1228, 2022 WL 1194011, at *5 (Iowa Apr. 22, 2022).

There is no legally recognized way to parcel out the conduct which evidences only ordinary negligence apart from the injury or wrongful death, the elements of duty, breach,

causation [scope of liability] and injury [wrongful death] are the same issues and tried in the same phase.

4. Iowa Code § 147.140 is applicable and the introduction of expert testimony is required because all of Plaintiff's allegations involve medical judgment.

Hypothetically, even if this case had not been a wrongful death claim, this case is not one simply of routine care and expert testimony is still needed. Plaintiff has already submitted two expert reports with approximately 70 pages of opinions regarding Roberta Butterfield's declining health and ultimate death. (See Plaintiff's Designation of Expert Witness Testimony, April 19, 2021). However, the reports were filed after the 60-day deadline in § 147.140. The filing of the expert reports necessitated the filing of a Motion to Dismiss, as Plaintiff, in essence, admitted that expert testimony would be needed. Based on the allegations set forth in Plaintiff's petition, there is no credible argument that this is not a complex medical case requiring expert witness testimony.

Expert testimony is required in any case when "a lay person sitting as trier of fact lacks the knowledge to render a

competent judgment as to negligence and proximate cause in complex matters requiring professional expertise.” Eventide Lutheran Home for the Aged v. Smithson Elec. & Gen. Const., Inc., 445 N.W.2d 789, 791 (Iowa 1989); see also Welte v. Bello, 482 N.W.2d 437, 441-42 (Iowa 1992)(discussing whether act or omission was within “common experience of persons” in deciding whether expert was necessary). Expert testimony is required if the primary facts cannot be intelligently described to the jury without an expert or the jury is not “as capable of comprehending the primary facts and of drawing correct conclusions from them as” an expert. Thompson v. Embassy Rehab. & Care Ctr., 604 N.W.2d 643, 646 (Iowa 2000) (quoting Schlader v. Interstate Power Co., 591 N.W.2d 10, 14 (Iowa 1999)). Expert testimony is required to establish the defendant’s standard of care if “the proper course of action [is] not a matter that would be within the common understanding of the jury.” Id.; see also Miller v. Trimark Physicians Grp., Inc., 2003 WL 223469933 *2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003) (even though the primary facts could be accurately described to the jury, expert testimony was required to establish the appropriate standard of care, i.e.,

“to establish signs or symptoms that [defendant] should have observed and precautions that should have been taken under the circumstances.”).

If, instead, the claims are based on “nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care,” experts are unnecessary. Kastler v. Iowa Methodist Hosp., 193 N.W.2d 98, 101-02 (Iowa 1971) (“the standard is such reasonable care for patients as their known mental and physical condition may require”); Cockerton v. Mercy Hosp. Med. Ctr., 490 N.W.2d 856, 859 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992) “The character of a particular activity of a hospital whether professional, on the one hand, or nonmedical, administrative, ministerial or routine care, on the other is determined by the nature of the activity itself, not by its purpose.” Kastler, 193 N.W.2d at 102. The court decides which category the activity falls into. Id.

In Kastler v. Iowa Methodist Hospital, 193 N.W.2d 98, 101-02 (Iowa 1971), the Iowa Supreme Court distinguished between the standard of care required with respect to “professional activities” of hospitals versus “non-medical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care” provided by hospitals:

With respect to professional activities of hospitals, we adhere to our rule that the standard is the care “which obtains in hospitals generally under similar circumstances.” [W]ith respect to nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care, we adopt the rule that the standard is such reasonable care for patients as their known mental and physical condition may require. We will not at this time attempt to formulate a precise distinction between the two kinds of activities.

See Davis v. Montgomery County Mem'l Hosp., 723 N.W.2d 448 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006).

In Miller v. Trimark Physicians Group, Inc., 672 N.W.2d 334 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003), Miller had finger surgery and, a week later, returned to his physician for a dressing change. After the doctor removed the bandage and left the examining room for approximately one minute to obtain a new splint, Miller fainted from the site of his injury and fell from the examining table to the floor, injuring his nose. Id. Miller sued the defendant, claiming that the doctor was negligent in leaving him unattended after removing his bandages when he knew or should have known of the possibility that Miller might black out at the sight of his hand and injure himself. Id. The Court held that the whether the physician owed duty to protect Miller from

fainting after he unwrapped patient's injured finger and whether physician breached that duty by leaving patient unattended for approximately one minute were issues not within common understanding of laypersons, and thus, patient's failure to designate expert witness in medical malpractice action precluded him from making prima facie case.

Id. In its holding, the Iowa Court of Appeals relied on the District Court reasoning, which stated:

Expert testimony is required to discuss the appropriate standard of care for preventing fainting in someone with no symptoms or no record of fainting spells. Expert testimony is also required to establish signs or symptoms that Dr. Wolff should have observed and precautions that should have been taken under the circumstances. Without expert testimony, laypersons will have to draw complex medical conclusions about what caused the Plaintiff to faint and about any standard of care that may have been breached by Dr. Wolff. As expert testimony is required and the Plaintiff failed to designate an expert, the Defendants' motion for summary judgment should be granted.

Miller v. Trimark Physicians Group, Inc., 672 N.W.2d 334 (Iowa Ct. App. 2003).

In fact, the need for expert testimony in pressure ulcer cases is well established and has been in Iowa for the past 20

years. There is case exactly on point. In Thompson v. Embassy Rehab. & Care Ctr., 604 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 2000), Thompson contended that defendants were negligent in the management of a bedsore that developed into a severe coccyx ulcer. Id. at 644. Specifically, Thompson alleged that the defendants failed to position him in a way that would lessen the pressure on the affected area and defendants failed to seek inpatient hospital care and necessary surgery for his condition when the need therefor arose. Id. However, Thompson failed to designate an expert witness to testify concerning the standard of care under the circumstances. The Iowa Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment in favor of a nursing home, holding “the decision to perform surgery required a medical judgment” and whether the nursing staff was negligent in not repositioning him properly in response to the physician’s and nurse's instructions were also matters of medical judgment. Thus, expert testimony as to standard of care was necessary for the negligence claim. Id. at 646.

In another case, Davis v. Montgomery County Hospital, 2006 WL 1896217 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006), the court determined

that expert testimony unnecessary where the question involved was not *how* a gait belt was used in transferring a patient to the bathroom, but *whether it was* used.

Here, the question in this case is whether the precautionary measures implemented for Roberta Butterfield were appropriate and within the standard of care. This question is outside the common understanding of a jury of laypersons. In the Petition, Plaintiff provides a long list of purported violations of the standard of care. These include claims that Chautauqua Guest Homes #3 “failed to provide necessary care, assessments, planning, supervision, management, documentation, administration, assistance, care, and treatment to Roberta.” (Petition, ¶ 47; App. 17-19).

Furthermore, in relevant part, Plaintiff alleges the following: Failing to properly assess Roberta; Failing to develop, update, and implement a Plan of Care related to injuries, skin breakdown, pressure injuries, wounds, infection, malnutrition, and/or dehydration; Failing to implement appropriate and necessary interventions, Failing to ensure appropriate equipment, assistance devices, lifts, wheelchairs, and/or gait

belts were safely and properly utilized installed, and/or maintained; Failing to appropriately train and/or instruct, supervise, and hire its employees; Failing to ensure that a resident who enters the facility without pressure sores does not develop pressure sores unless the individual's clinical condition demonstrates that they were unavoidable and/or failing to ensure a resident having pressure sores receives necessary treatment and services to promote healing, prevent infection and/or prevent new sores from developing; Failing to properly arrange for and/or administer physician orders and/or ensure Roberta received services, care, medications, and/or treatments in compliance with her physician's orders; and Failing to have in place appropriate policies and procedures to ensure that all staff were knowledgeable about, including but not limited to, patient risks, proper use of medical equipment, gait belts, lifts, and/or mobility assistive devices, the need to document and/or provide care in accordance with the residents' needs, Plan of Care and/or Care Plan, and/or physician orders, and/or the need for proper and/or adequate supervision. (Petition, ¶ 47; App. 17-19).

None of these claims are based on “nonmedical, administrative, ministerial or routine care.” These are, instead, cases where medical judgment is involved and require expert testimony as to the standard of care and whether that standard has been breached. The medical issues in this case are complex and varied and require testimony from experts in various fields. The issue of Defendants’ negligence is not simply a matter of common knowledge. Rather, it requires expert testimony regarding the standard of care, whether there was a breach of that standard, and, further, if Roberta Butterfield’s damages [and death] were caused by negligence of the Defendants. The case revolves around whether Roberta Butterfield developed an avoidable stage 4 pressure injury at Chautauqua Guest Home due to the lack assessment, care planning of preventative measures. Whether Chautauqua staff lacked a knowledge of etiology, staging, prevention and treatment of pressure injuries. For example, a few such issues in which the jury would need assistance from an expert witness include Roberta Butterfield’s pre-existing health conditions, the causes of her skin breakdown, the relationship between her hip fracture and her

declining health, and whether her skin was already compromised. Clearly, this is a matter that requires expert testimony.

Without expert testimony, how can a lay juror know when skin breakdowns occur? What is considered reasonable care for skin breakdowns? Cloth bandages? No bandage at all? Keeping the wound dry or moist? Antivirals or antibiotics? Like Thompson, both the primary facts and the proper course of action under the circumstances are outside the jury's understanding without expert testimony.

Plaintiff argues that the conditions surrounding Roberta Butterfield's transfer do not need expert witness testimony. Plaintiff's position is problematic, as it forces a jury to look at this case with blinders, ignoring all the other allegations of negligence pled in the petition in favor of the event leading to the fracture. The cases relied upon by Plaintiffs all involve a patient fall in a hospital, and that is the only basis of the case. See Kastler v. Iowa Methodist Hospital, 193 N.W. 2d 98 (Iowa 1971); Landes v. Women's Christian Ass'n, 504 N.W.2d 139

(Iowa Ct. App. 1993); Cockerton v. Mercy Hosp. Med. Ctr., 490 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992).

In each of these, the courts found that expert testimony was not required because the falls occurred during routine care like showering or going to the bathroom, or the fall occurred while the patient was being transported to another room for treatment. None of these cases involved compounding the effects of a fall with a pressure sore and wrongful death. None of these cases focused on the critical question, how should someone in Roberta Butterfield's condition have to be transferred? Whether she was a one-assist, two-assist and/or other means of transfer based on Roberta Butterfield's condition, requires expert testimony. Also, whether the break was due to negligence transfer or was spontaneous. Clearly medical expert testimony is needed. Would Plaintiff really go to trial on this case without expert witnesses? A jury must not consider the allegations of negligence piecemeal or in a vacuum, but rather take the Plaintiff's petition in its entirety. Such claims require expert witness testimony.

5. Plaintiff's "implied agreement" argument fails

On Appeal, Plaintiff argues that the parties implicitly agreed that a certificate of merit was not needed in this case. Namely, “Butterfield and Chautauqua did enter into an implied agreement based upon their course of dealings and course of performance throughout the pendency of this case...” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 32). With respect, this is not a serious argument. One of the problems that Defendants are having responding to this argument stems from the fact that Plaintiff’s “implied agreement” argument keeps changing from one pleading to the next.

In his initial resistance to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff’s counsel cited to a prior case [Birtwell] in which both defense and plaintiff’s counsel participated. At that time Plaintiff argued, “Plaintiffs ultimately looked to the course of dealings with Defense Counsel in Birtwell and throughout the pendency of this case, which clearly depict that there was an established, implied in fact agreement between the parties that a certificate of merit affidavit was not necessary.” (Plaintiff’s Resistance to Motion to Dismiss, p. 13).

At that time, Defendants rejected any suggestion that litigation strategies taken in earlier cases would be binding in this matter. There is no case in any jurisdiction in this country that supports Plaintiff's position, and the likely reason for this is that it would be unfair, and in some ways unethical, for the client to be obligated to a settlement or agreement in a totally unrelated case.

Now, in this appeal, Plaintiff essentially argues that because the parties filed a discovery plan that did not include a deadline regarding the certificate of merit, that this indicated that the parties agreed to omit the certificate of merit affidavit deadline and requirement. (Appellant's Brief, p. 33).

That no date was specified in the discovery plan regarding the filing of a certificate of merit, does not establish that a binding contract was created or that the requirement was waived. The failure to include a specific date for the certificate of merit requirement does not render § 147.140 void. The deadline is codified in the statute, a requirement that is mandatory. Plaintiff's counsel had only to look at the language in § 147.140.

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